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U.S. HEALTH CARE REFORM:
Di1FFICcULT TRADE-OFFS



Half of the improvement in our standard of living over the
past 25 years stems from improvements in health care.
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LETTER FROM THE PRESIDENT

As | think back on developments in 2005—at the
national level, in New England, and in the Bank—
| am struck by the importance of striking the
right balance between coping with immediate
challenges and looking ahead to address long-
term issues. The Bank has been successful in
addressing this balance in 2005. We are in the
process of completing several major transitions,
while at the same time proceeding with initiatives
that will allow us to serve New England and the
nation in new and exciting ways in the years
to come.

At the national level, 2005 was marked by
unexpected and daunting challenges. The Gulf
Coast hurricanes caused enormous human
tragedy, extensive property damage, and disrup-
tions to energy supplies which contributed to
sharp spikes in oil and natural gas prices.
Nevertheless, the U.S. economy turned in a good
performance in 2005, with real growth up 3.5
percent from the previous year, a rate of increase
that speaks well for the resilience of our economy
approaching its fifth year of expansion. About 2
million jobs were added, the unemployment rate
declined, and despite the sharp increase in
energy prices, core inflation remained moderate at
just over 2 percent. A good definition of success,
despite the challenges.

For the past several years, economic growth has
been driven largely by consumer spending and
strength in the housing sector. By the end of 2005,
we began to see small signs of a flattening in
housing and a few indications that consumer
spending might be less vibrant than in the past,
both as a result of slowing housing markets and
increases in energy costs. Business spending, how-
ever, appears poised to pick up. Improved business
confidence and stronger balance sheets are
prompting businesses to boost capital spending
and increase hiring, and the outlook for economic
growth in 2006 is encouraging.

Here in New England, the economy continued to
expand in 2005, but at a slower pace than
nationally. While the region’s unemployment
rate remained below the national average, it
did not improve over the course of the year,
and New England has yet to regain its pre-
recession job total. Nevertheless, prospects
appear to be improving for a broad range of busi-
nesses in the region, and the pace of job growth
should improve.

While the near-term outlook is positive, the U.S.
economy faces risks in the longer term—risks that
demand all of our attention. We have seen no
improvement in the low rate of personal savings in
the United States, and large current account and
fiscal deficits pose threats to future standards of
living. The rising cost of health care is another crit-
ical issue, not unrelated to our fiscal problems.
While advances in health care technology have
provided great benefits, paying for the associated
increase in costs against the demographics of the
aging “Baby Boomers” is a major challenge,
potentially undermining the competitiveness of
U.S. businesses and creating consumer concern
and uncertainty. How to value and pay for
health care was the subject of the Bank’s
2005 economic conference—our fiftieth—which
brought together national and international
experts to both assess the problem and suggest
solutions. The results of that conference are the
subject of Jane Little's and Teresa Foy's essay in
this annual report.

In the Bank, 2005 was a year of significant
challenge and transition, but also one of progress
toward goals of long-term, strategic importance.
The year’s key transition effort involved the exten-
sive planning required for the consolidation of all
First District check processing at our office in
Windsor Locks, Connecticut, in early 2006. This
consolidation is being undertaken in response to
the nationwide shift from paper to electronic pay-
ment forms. Early in the new year, we bid farewell
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to check staff in Boston, where we had check
processing operations since 1915. But we also wel-
comed many new staff in Windsor Locks, where
our office had undergone considerable renovation
for the move. All our staff—in Boston and
Windsor Locks—did an outstanding job in sur-
passing key operations targets in 2005 while at
the same time preparing for the consolidation.

Another significant transition is also nearing com-
pletion: the renovation and restoration of the
plaza and associated infrastructure surrounding
the Bank. Completion of this project will provide
improved security and a much more inviting
approach to the Bank, which has been affected by
construction activity in connection with Boston’s
“Big Dig” for at least the past decade.

While the volume of paper payments is declining,
electronic forms of payments are expanding. The
Bank has been chosen to play a leadership role in
fostering the development of electronic payments
in order to improve the long-term efficiency of the
U.S. payments system and the economy. Together
with the U.S. Treasury, we are working to advance
electronic payment solutions through the devel-
opment of an Internet Payment Platform that will
provide federal agencies with a more efficient
electronic approach to approving and tracking
purchase orders, invoices, and payments. We also
are expanding the Stored Value Card program
that we operate for overseas U.S. military person-
nel. And in 2005, we launched an Emerging
Payments Research Group, drawing from the
Bank’s research and financial services functions.



The Group is gaining a greater understanding of
consumer behavior and payment choices and their
implications for the economy.

Our Research Department continued to conduct
policy-oriented research in support of the Bank’s
role in the formulation of U.S. monetary policy— a
task complicated in 2005 by the economic disrup-
tions caused by the hurricane damage in the Gulf
and rising energy costs. Looking to the future,
Research has expanded on its traditional areas of
focus with the establishment of a Center for
Behavioral Economics and Decision-Making. This
new center will take advantage of fresh thinking
on consumer behavior so as to increase our under-
standing of economic decision-making, and ulti-
mately improve policy-making. The Bank also
formed the New England Public Policy Center to
conduct research on major policy issues that
affect our region—both immediate and long-
term—and to facilitate information sharing
among policy makers, policy analysts, and the
public. Conferences and research sponsored by
the center included such topics as energy policy in
New England, Boston’s economic vitality, and
state and local tax issues.

Another significant achievement was the work of
our Supervision and Regulation staff in the area of
quantifying operational risk at large financial
institutions, work which is helping to inform
national and international regulatory policy. We
also maintained an active program of outreach to
regional and community banks, alerting them to
emerging supervisory developments.

Attendance was up at the Bank’s economic
education programs and at the interactive
New England Economic Adventure. Our commu-
nity development initiatives focused on the
financial needs of New England’s immigrant
populations, and we undertook an analysis of
successful models of community development by
universities. We developed a new newsletter
focusing on the issues facing community develop-
ment organizations around New England to
further the efforts of our Community Develop-
ment Advisory Council.

The Bank’s accomplishments and contributions
reflect the dedication of all associated with the
Bank. We also benefit greatly from the insights
and advice of others—the many people who serve
on our various advisory boards and, of course, the
Bank’s board of directors. This year marked the
completion of terms for two directors—Bain
Consulting Chairman Orit Gadiesh and First
National Bank of Suffield President James Wood.
We very much appreciate their contributions—
their interest in prudent management of day-to-
day challenges and their counsel on long-term
strategic matters. In addition, Dr. Samuel Thier
stepped down this year as the Bank’s chairman.
We are extremely grateful to Sam for his leader-
ship throughout his term as chair, and for his will-
ingness to remain with us as a director. He will be
succeeded as chair by Blenda Wilson, President
and Chief Executive Officer of the Nellie Mae
Education Foundation.

In closing, 2005 was a year of successful transi-
tion, accomplishment, and building for the
future. All of our staff, past and present, in
every ared, in Boston and Windsor Locks, have
made this success possible—their efforts are to
be celebrated.

ﬂﬁ%g,w,

Cathy E. Minehan
President and Chief Executive Officer



This year’s annual report essay focuses on
how we value and pay for health care.



As physicians have become more effective and societies have grown wealthier,
people have chosen to spend a higher share of their incomes on health care.
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REFORMING THE
U.S. HEALTH
CARE SYSTEM:

WHERE THERE’S A WILL,
THERE COULD BE A WAY

Jane S. Little
Vice President and Economist
Federal Reserve Bank of Boston

Teresa M. Foy
Policy Analyst
Federal Reserve Bank of Boston

Periodically, the tensions and contradictions
emanating from the big, marvelously
innovative, highly inequitable, and hugely
expensive U.S. health care system force a
general reassessment of the way this
country finances and delivers health care for
its citizens. One of these periods appears to
be approaching—although, as Ted Marmor
pointed out over a decade ago, codlitions
preferring the status quo almost always
prevent these reassessments from resulting
in more than incremental change." Today,
over 46 million people are uninsured,
families with health insurance fear that they
may lose it, firms with household names
seek ways to extricate themselves from
providing health insurance for their
employees, and the new Deficit Reduction
Act of 2005 permits doctors and hospitals
to deny services to Medicaid recipients who
cannot meet required co-payments and
deductibles. In an early 2006 article, The
Economist asserts that the “world’s biggest

and most expensive health-care system is
beginning to fall apart;” it also suggests
that health reform is “one of the most
complicated challenges facing America’s
economy.”? Why has health care become a
major challenge to the U.S. economy and to
economic policy makers? At least three
developments explain the growing impor-
tance of health reform as an economic issue.

Clearly, the health care sector is now very
large and touches most aspects of the U.S.
and New England economies. In 2004,
spending on medical care amounted to 16
percent of U.S. nominal GDP—more than
consumers spent on food, clothing, and
energy in total and about equal to all busi-
ness investment in plant and equipment.
Further, health care’s share of non-farm
employment is now 9 percent and grow-
ing—that’s roughly akin to manufacturing’s
shrinking share of the workforce. In New
England, health care looms even larger,
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accounting for almost 12 percent of regional
employment. In the future, this sector is almost
certain to absorb an even greater share of GDP,
for, as OECD data suggest, as national incomes
rise, countries generally choose to spend a grow-
ing share of theirincome on health and health care
(Figure 1).2

With health care spending projected to reach 22
percent of GDP by 2025,* it becomes increasingly
important that U.S. policy makers be able to
measure health care output, prices, and productiv-
ity accurately—no easy task. Currently, the most
familiar measure of health care costs is probably
the medical care CPI, which measures inflation in
consumers’ out-of-pocket costs for medical care, a
fraction of total health care spending. For a vari-
ety of reasons, the medical CPI has been increas-
ing a lot faster than the core CPI, helping to boost
broad measures of inflation and labor costs as
well. In addition, rapid medical cost inflation has
contributed to a widespread impression that pro-
ductivity in the U.S. health care sector may be
rather low. By contrast, a growing body of recent
resedrch provides evidence of significant produc-
tivity gains in health care for patients suffering
from specific widespread problems like cataracts,
depression, and heart attacks. But do these find-
ings apply to the whole health care sector? Indeed,
international data indicate that the United States
spends far more per person on health care than
would be expected given its per capita income
(Figure 1),° while data on expenditures and out-
comes suggest that this country’s extra spending
may not be particularly productive (Figure 2).6

A second reason for economists’ concern about
the health care system reflects its possibly
distorting effect on the operation of the U.S. labor
market. Compared with other OECD countries,
employment-based insurance plays an unusually
large role in the U.S. health care system, where it
finances about 40 percent of U.S. health care
spending. But of course, not all employers offer
health insurance. And over the decade to 2003,
the share of private-sector workers actually
participating in employer-provided medical plans
fell from 63 percent to 45 percent, in part reflecting



workforce shifts from full- to part-time and union
to non-union status. In addition, a smaller share of
workers who are offered health insurance now
choose to take it—most likely because a growing
fraction of employers are requiring workers elect-
ing this benefit to contribute more toward its
cost.” Another factor may be the increase in
two-worker households.

Are these employment-based financing arrange-
ments affecting the supply or demand for labor in
this country? Are they influencing the structure of
employment, encouraging a shift toward the use
of temporary or contract labor? Does our health
care system distort our labor market and reduce
its flexibility? The answers to these questions
concern policy makers.

Turning, findlly, to fiscal issues, the tax-financed
share of health care is estimated to have reached
about 60 percent in 1999,2 up from 55 percent in
1990 and a higher percentage than most people
expect. The large and rising share of publicly fund-
ed health care puts pressure on federal and state
budgets, limiting those governments’ non-health
policy options. According to the Social Security and
Medicare Trustees Report of 2005, total Medicare
expenditures will rise as a share of GDP from 2.6
percent currently to 13.6 percent in 2079. If so,
Medicare expenditures will exceed those for Social
Security in 2024 and represent twice the cost of
Social Security in 2079 (Figure 3). Moreover, at the
state level, many governments have taken steps to
expand the scope of Medicaid in order to extend
health insurance coverage to particularly vulnera-
ble groups, such as children. This trend has placed
an increased burden on state budgets (Figure 4).
How the nation and individual states address these
imbalances—through increased taxes, reduced
benefits, or increased borrowing—wiill affect U.S.
interest rates, private savings and investment, and
international capital flows.

Prompted by its interest in these issues, the
Federal Reserve Bank of Boston brought together
economists, health practitioners, and policy
makers to examine the topic “Wanting It All: The
Challenge of Reforming the U.S. Health Care

System” in June 2005. This essay summarizes the
themes and the consensus-based prescriptions for
action that emerged from that conference.
(Please see the box on page 14 for a list of
conference presenters.)
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Rising health care costs are the result of advancements in
medical technology, not population growth or aging.



DEFINING THE HEALTH
CARE CHALLENGE —
“THE PROBLEM WITH
No OBVIOUS SOLUTION”

This country’s health care goals include broad,
secure access to “appropriate,” high-quality care
based on active discovery and innovation at an
“acceptable” (aye, there’s the rub) cost to the ulti-
mate payer. All industrial countries share these
goals, although, as Kieke Okma points out, not
necessarily the weights they assign to them. For
example, Europeans tend to put more weight on
access to care than do Americans, who seem to
put consumer choice at the top of the list and
access toward the bottom. But in the end, in
“wanting it all,” every country struggles with the
inherent conflicts between these goals. In particu-
lar, since all countries adopt new medical
technologies as they become available, all strug-
gle to contain the rapid pace of growth in health
care costs. And most could put more emphasis on
prevention and achieving good health.®

These inherent conflicts reflect the essential value
of health care to many patients/consumers. They
also reflect, as William Nordhaus points out,
society’s embrace of “specific egalitarianism”™ as
well as society’s reluctance to ration health care
by price or even by regulation. Obviously, these
attitudes do not accord well with an equally
widespread lack of political will to pay for other
people’s health care. And these inconsistencies
are only exacerbated by information asymme-
tries; by the absence of cost consciousness among
consumers; and by limited competition among
providers and health plans. Finally, Richard Frank
and others raise a host of behavioral issues that
further compound the situation, issues that
include patient-doctor inertia, rules of thumb,
excessive optimism, and myopia regarding the
need to save for medical emergencies. These
inherent conflicts lead David Cutler to call health
reform “a hard problem;” Nordhaus to call it “a
very hard problem;” and Henry Aaron to call it
“the problem that won’t go away.”

MEASURING AND VALUING

HEALTH CARE

David Cutler and William Nordhaus both
demonstrate that improvements in public health
and medical care have added enormously to our
standard of living over the past one hundred
years. Nordhaus even concludes that the value of
the gains stemming from improvements in health
status equals the value of all other gains in
consumption over the past quarter century. Not
surprisingly, then, as physicians have become
more effective and societies have grown wealthi-
er, people have chosen to spend a higher share of
their incomes on health care—they value what
doctors can do for them. In addition, as Cutler
points out, health care turns out to be highly price
elastic; properly measured, some quality-adjusted
health care prices are actually falling, and people
spend more in response. Further, as Cutler also
demonstrates, cost-benefit analysis of specific
interventions, like treatment for heart attack,
finds that such interventions are clearly “worth”
their cost, based on common assumptions regard-
ing the economic value of the additional years of
life resulting from the intervention. For example,
$30,000 in expenditures for a 45-year-old cardiac
patient leads on average to three years’ longer
life. Since three years’ longer life has a discounted
present value of $120,000 by common estimates,
the return on the investment is 4 to 1.

But, as Cutler also notes, the fact that much of
today’s health care is highly valued (particularly
by individual doctors, patients, and their families
confronting specific medical crises) does not
necessarily make it affordable (particularly to tax-
payers, to whom hypothetical patients are mere
statistics). Nor does this high valuation mean that
all health care dollars are well spent. Cutler
suggests that at least 20 percent of health care
spending is wasted, while Wennberg, Skinner, and
Fisher (who find that Medicare spends half as
much per patient in Minnesota as in Miami with
equally good results) conclude that the waste in
Medicare is closer to 30 percent." But under
spending also contributes to the inefficiency of
the U.S. health care system. For example, too little

11
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is spent on prevention and chronic disease man-
agement—for the insured as well as for the
uninsured. And the system often does a poor job
of coordinating different aspects or phases of a
patient’s care, such as the transition from acute to
chronic care, or the transfer of records from one
hospital or doctor to another.

IMPROVING EFFICIENCY:
CONSUMER INCENTIVES,
PROVIDER INCENTIVES,

AND TECHNOLOGY

Prescriptions for reducing the inefficiencies plaguing
the U.S. hedlth care system include making con-
sumers more sensitive to the costs of their medical
care, making providers more responsible for health
care outcomes, and encouraging better use of infor-
mation and communication technology throughout
the health care system. To start with consumer
awdreness, most analysts, including those at the
Boston Fed conference, agree that the tax subsidy
for employer-provided health insurance, which cur-
rently cuts federal tax revenues by about $200 bil-
lion per year,” reduces cost consciousness and
should be eliminated for the non-poor.”

A second, newly popular approach to encouraging
patients to be more cost conscious involves
increasing the availability of low-cost insurance
with high deductibles and high co-payments,
combined with Health Savings Accounts (HSAs)
or Health Reimbursement Arrangements.
Together, these elements make up “consumer
driven health care” (CDHC), which, to be effective,
requires that health care cost information be
widely available and of significance to patients
making health care decisions. While several
conference participants, including Alain Enthoven,
Mark Pauly, Gene Steuerle, and Stuart Altman,
see some merit in aspects of consumer driven
health care,” many attendees are concerned that
CDHC will encourage underutilization of preven-
tive care, particularly by low-income individuals
unable to afford the high co-payments and
deductibles. And such concerns appear to be
warranted, judging by a recent study that finds

that, for reasons of cost, 35 percent of individuals
with CDHC plans skipped or delayed health care,
compared with 17 percent of persons with
comprehensive health plans.” In addition, confer-
ence participants including Richard Frank, Robert
Galvin, Sherry Glied, and David Meltzer point to
the general absence of the information regarding
health care costs that would be required to make
CDHC work; the reluctance of doctors and
patients to discuss matters of cost; the impor-
tance of advice from family and friends; and the
prominence of inertia in determining patient
choice of health care providers.

As for motivating providers to improve efficiency,
many conference participants see considerable
promise in “pay for performance,” a reimburse-
ment system that rewards providers for good
outcomes and for following prescribed protocols
for vaccinations and other preventive care—
that is, for doing what they ought to do. A smaller
group, led by Alain Enthoven, advocates combin-
ing “pay for performance” with support for
integrated delivery systems like Kaiser Permanente
in California and Harvard Vanguard in
Massachusetts. Such systems are built around a
core multi-specialty group practice that has a sig-
nificant share of its revenues based on per capita
pre-payment. Further, members of the practice are
encouraged to adhere to up-to-date clinical stan-
dards developed by the team.™ According to
Enthoven, integrated delivery systems, also
known as “delivery system HMOs,” should be
sharply distinguished from “carrier HMOs,”
rather inclusive networks of unaffiliated physi-
cians generally working under fee-for-service
arrangements. In choosing to receive care from an
integrated delivery system, an individual is opting
to hire a general contractor, to use a Karen Davis
metaphor, rather than to deal with the plumber,
the roofer, the painter, and the candlestick maker
individually. Obviously, the individual’s care is
likely to be better coordinated, and, between
capitation and patient inertia regarding choice
of doctor, the system’s managers have consider-
able incentive to provide good preventive care
and disease management, using non-physician
providers whenever appropriate.



Many conference participants see considerable
promise in “pay for performance,” a reimbursement
system that rewards providers for good outcomes
and for following prescribed protocols.
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This essay provides a summary of the views presented at the Federal Reserve Bank of
Boston’s 50th Economic Conference: “Wanting It All: The Challenge of Reforming the
U.S. Health Care System, ” which was held in June of 2005. We thank all of the
presenters, who are listed below, for contributing to the success of the conference.

Henry Aaron
Senior Fellow
The Brookings Institution

Stuart Altman
Professor
Brandeis University

David Brailer, M.D.

National Coordinator for
Health Information Technology
U.S. Department of Health and
Human Services

Michael Chernew
Professor
University of Michigan

David Cutler
Professor
Harvard University

Karen Davis
President
The Commonwealth Fund

Alain Enthoven
Professor
Stanford University

Judith Feder

Dean, Georgetown Public
Policy Institute
Georgetown University

Richard Frank
Professor
Harvard Medical School

Henry Farber
Professor
Princeton University

Robert Galvin, M.D.
Director

Global HealthCare
General Electric Company

Sherry Glied
Professor
Columbia University

Brigitte Madrian
Associate Professor
University of Pennsylvania

Theodore Marmor
Professor
Yale University

The conference agenda and the presenters’ papers
and biographies can be found at
www.bos.frb.org/economic/conf/conf50/index.htm

David Meltzer, M.D.
Associate Professor
University of Chicago

James Mongan, M.D.
President and CEO
Partners Healthcare

Joseph Newhouse
Professor
Harvard Medical School

William Nordhaus
Professor
Yale University

Kieke Okma
Visiting Professor
Catholic University of Leuven

Mark Pauly
Professor
University of Pennsylvania

C. Eugene Steuerle
Senior Fellow
Urban Institute

Alan Weil

Executive Director
National Academy for
State Health Policy

dent, and reluctant (or
uncertain how) to change
their ways. In the end, while
most observers view inte-
grated delivery systems and
“pay for performance” as
likely to improve the efficien-
cy of the U.S. health care
system, no one claims that
these options will keep
health care expenditures
from rising as a share of
income. And, as Chernew
points out, the more efficient
the system becomes, the
harder it is to avoid the
painful trade-offs between
quality and access.

Turning to technology, while
almost everyone agrees that
advancing medical technolo-
gy is the primary driver of ris-
ing health care costs—“it’s
the technology, stupid,” to
quote Mark Pauly—many
conference participants re-
main convinced that better
use of information and
communications technology

But while Kaiser, Mayo, and Harvard Vanguard
are widely acknowledged to provide great care,
integrated delivery systems are not popular out-
side of California and, to a lesser extent,
Massachusetts and Connecticut. Why not?
Chernew and Glied suggest that people fear pre-
committing to a narrow set of doctors before
knowing what their medical needs may be and
that such systems may require too much travel.
But in their eyes, the major deterrent is likely to be
resistance to switching doctors, a resistance that
has fostered the spread of preferred provider
organizations (PPOs) and other almost universal-
ly inclusive networks of independent providers.
Richard Frank and David Meltzer also raise some
behavioral concerns about the efficacy of practice
guidelines and “pay for performance,” noting that
physicians tend to be over optimistic, over confi-

holds great promise for improving the efficiency of
the complex, disjointed U.S. health care system.
According to Jim Mongan and David Brailer, for
example, electronic medical records will do far
more than cut paperwork and reduce error; more
important, they will also drive medicine toward
evidence-based practice. Galvin, Brailer, Davis,
and Mongan all see huge potential in a national
effort to identify and spread best practices and
to develop and publicize quality measures.
Nevertheless, Pauly and others suspect that even
with better consumer and provider incentives and
improved information and communications tech-
nology, U.S. policy makers will likely need to find a
graceful, politically acceptable way to slow the
adoption of new or unneeded medical technology
for the insured middle class.



EMPLOYER-BASED HEALTH
INSURANCE: PROS AND CONS

In the United States, members of the middle class
generdlly obtain their health insurance through
employer-provided health benefits. Although
employment-based insurance crops up in many
countries, this arrangement has played an unusu-
ally dominant role in the United States. In the
1940s, U.S. employers constrained by wartime
price controls were encouraged to compete for
workers by offering tax-subsidized health benefits
in place of higher wages; today, employer-
provided benefits are the primary source of health
insurance for the non-elderly. These employment-
based arrangements cover 63 percent of the
non-elderly population; by contrast, public
programs like Medicaid and Medicare cover just
17 percent (Figure 5). As Brigitte Madrian points
out, the result is a highly fragmented system
where thousands of employers define the health
insurance options available to their workers and
where even Medicaid comprises 50 different state
programs. Does this employment-based system
serve the country well?

Many conference participants, including Alain
Enthoven and Henry Farber, answer no. They
describe the system as “hopelessly flawed” and a
“terrible idea” because it leaves millions of people
without access to affordable health care, bears
most heavily on low-wage workers, and makes
the U.S. labor market less flexible and dynamic. To
start with this last point, just 60 percent of U.S.
employers offer health insurance to any part of
their workforce, and that share has been declining
in recent years as health benefits have grown
more costly. As a result, Madrian and others find
that worker demand for affordable health insur-
ance and employer efforts to minimize the cost of
offering this benefit distort labor market deci-
sions, reducing labor market flexibility and worker
productivity. On the supply side, the availability
of affordable health insurance significantly
affects individual decisions regarding where to
work or whether to work at all. Further, because
employer-provided health insurance is not
portable, insurance contracts exclude pre-existing

conditions, and people hate changing their
doctors, the employer-based system tends to
discourage labor mobility, producing a phenome-
non known as “job lock””—even “wedlock” on
occasion. More importantly perhaps, on the
demand side, employers face an incentive to sub-
stitute part-time or temporary workers for
full-time workers in order to avoid health insur-
ance costs. Similarly, firms may ask existing
full-time staff, who already have health benefits,
to work more hours instead of hiring more
full-time workers, who will add to insurance costs.
Given the evidence that workers do in fact pay for
their health benefits through lower wages as
economic theory would suggest, such employer
efforts to minimize health insurance costs may
seem puzzling. But it is not clear that the
wage-benefit trade-off is either immediate or
one-for-one. For example, as Joseph Newhouse
points out, minimum wage laws limit employers’
practical ability to shift big increases in insurance
costs to low-wage workers. Nor is it easy to ask
current workers to pay for big increases in the cost
of retiree insurance, especially since, as Farber
notes, mature firms like GM now have more pen-
sioners than active employees.

FIGURE 5

HEALTH INSURANCE COVERAGE

OF THE NON-ELDERLY
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Source: Employee Benefit Research Institute, 2003.
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Just 60 percent of U.S. employers offer health insurance to any
part of their workforce, and that share has been declining in
recent years as health benefits have grown more costly.




In addition, Enthoven, Farber, and Bob Galvin
agree that many employers are ill-equipped to
purchase health insurance for their workers.
Few small employers have a good understanding
of health care issues, and employer/worker
interests may not coincide. For example, while
employers clearly have an interest in attracting
healthy, productive workers, management’s
interest in their workers’ long-term health may
have declined in recent years as average job
tenures have fallen and lifetime employment has
virtually disappeared.

On the other hand, as Altman, Pauly, and Galvin
argue, large firms with good benefits departments
deliver very responsive health care to their work-
ers in a very efficient manner. These firms have
taken the lead in promoting fitness and wellness
programs, in encouraging “pay for performance,”
and in developing accessible information on
provider quality and costs. Further, as Galvin
emphasizes, in an employer-linked system, deci-
sions regarding the use of new technologies are
market-based. Without these market signals, how
would the nation determine how much to investin
desirable medical innovation? Would a single-
payer system with a “politically acceptable”
global budget do as well?

FISCAL PRESSURES

Even now, the federal government’s existing
responsibilities for health care are projected to
create extraordinary fiscal—and political—pres-
sures in the decades ahead. Although political and
media attention has so far focused primarily on
the need to address the Social Security “crisis”
approaching with the retirement of the Baby
Boom generation, the government’s future com-
mitments under the Medicare and Medicaid
programs loom considerably larger, as Henry
Aaron, Stuart Altman, and others emphasize.

To draw the comparison more precisely, the
baseline, or intermediate, estimate from the
Congressional Budget Office (CBO) projects that
federal spending for Social Security will rise from
4.2 percent of GDPin 2005 to 6.4 percent in 2050.

By contrast, in the intermediate case, federal
spending for Medicare and Medicaid, also 4.2
percent of GDP today, is projected to reach 12.6
percent of national output by mid century (Figure
6). Unfortunately, however, the CBO’s intermedi-
ate projection assumes, as do the Medicare
trustees, that Medicare and Medicaid spending
per enrollee will exceed per capita GDP growth by
just 1 percentage point per year—an unrealistic
assumption judging by U.S. history and by
international trends. As the CBO points out,
Medicare-Medicaid spending (and health care
spending more generally) has in fact grown an
average of 2.5 percentage points faster than
per capita GDP since 1970. Again, this gap
largely reflects technological improvements, not
population aging. If these trends continue,
Medicare-Medicaid spending will account for 22
percent of GDP in 2050—almost 18 percentage
points more than currently.” Further, as Henry
Aaron points out, because the private and public
sectors share responsibility for health care
spending in this country, at current trends, health
care will claim about half of all U.S. income and all
of the increase in economic output by mid
century. Valuable as health care is, is this
outcome realistic?
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Confronted with these prospects, what will the
U.S. electorate do? Among the alternatives Aaron
posits, one course might be to continue, by
default, along the current path and simply pay the
bill. This option would allow increasing our non-
health standard of living for a while, but, as health
care came to claim all of the growth in economic
output and then more, the situation could turn
unsustainable—if the share of economic output
devoted to education, research and development,
and crucial infrastructure began to shrink, eco-
nomic growth itself would slow. As an obvious,
desirable alternative, U.S. policy makers could
redouble their efforts to make the health care
system more efficient, but, as already discussed, a
better targeted system requires more spending in
some areas and less in others, making the net
savings likely not very large. To curb Medicare
spending specifically, Congress could pass restric-
tive legislation, increasing the Medicare eligibility
age to 67, for example. While this change might
encourage people to work longer, it would not
save much money because the young elderly
are reasonably healthy. Congress could also
increase Medicare deductibles, co-payments, and
premiums,” but, as Aaron notes, these changes
would simply shift costs to the private sector or
reduce the elderly population’s access to medical
care. While Medicare administrators could, for
example, conceivably slow the pace at which they
approve Medicare coverage for new technologies,
the Boomer Generation, as Stuart Altman
observes, has always been a demanding, spending
lot, even in their 30s and 40s; he doubts they will
permit substandard care for the elderly (and
poor?) to reemerge as they age.

How then is the nation going to pay this medical
bill? Assuming that the current gap between the
growth in health care costs and the growth in GDP
continues, meeting current Medicare-Medicaid
commitments, Henry Aaron calculates, will
require doubling payroll and income tax revenues
as a share of GDP by 2040. Even slowing the
increase in health care spending to 1 percentage
point above per capita GDP growth would mean
raising tax revenues by 6 percent of GDP by 2040.
But, according to Stuart Altman, the United

States is a “tax-phobic” nation with an Eleventh
Commandment proscribing tax rates above 18
percent to 19 percent of GDP, while Joseph
Newhouse notes that U.S. tax revenues have
exceeded 20 percent of GDP on just one occasion
in the post World War |l era.

The options are limited—to us collectively as a
society or individually. The more we choose to
emphasize individual responsibility, the more cost
conscious the system will be, but the more access
for the poor and the seriously ill becomes problem-
atic. In the end, U.S. voters will have to decide
what they are willing to spend for other people’s
health care, for, as Alan Weil points out, while
people are willing to spend a lot for their own
health care, it is less clear what they are willing to
spend on the care of others. In Henry Aaron’s view,
resolving these issues will impose major stresses
on the democratic polity of this country in
coming decades.

WANTING IT ALL,
GETTING MUCH OF IT—

AREAS OF AGREEMENT

Most of the health care experts attending the
Boston Fed’s June 2005 conference appear to
agree with Karen Davis, whose remarks, entitled
“Getting It All,” argue that we actually do know
how to achieve much of what we want for the U.S.
health care system, including even broader access,
and we should “just go ahead and do it.” Within
this group of analysts, all tend to cite the same list
of ways to increase the efficiency of the U.S.
health care system and move it toward the
production possibility frontier. In their view, good
steps to take include encouraging increased use of
“pay for performance” and integrated delivery
systems—uwith ongoing efforts to understand the
behavioral issues that might undermine their
spread and effectiveness. They also advocate
added emphasis on primary and preventive care
and disease management as well as broader use
of communications and information technology
to identify what works. Less obviously, perhaps,
most experts also support renewed efforts to
improve consumer cost consciousness by eliminating



If current spending trends continue, health care will claim half of U.S.
income and all of the increase in output by 2050, squeezing other
important areas such as education and infrastructure.
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The last several years have seen private
health insurance premiums rise and the
ranks of the uninsured swell, while state
budgets have come under increased
fiscal pressure, limiting expansion or
compelling cuts in existing programs.
Nevertheless, some states have man-
aged to summon the political will to
implement health reform strategies that
stretch health care dollars by using a
portion of state money to leverage
private, federal, and additional state
funds in order to expand coverage and
improve program efficiency. Initiatives of
the New England states include using
federal Medicaid waivers and State
Children’s Health Insurance Program
(SCHIP) waivers to expand coverage to
nontraditional beneficiaries; enacting
“pay or play” laws; and creating group
purchasing arrangements.! The pro-
grams of three states are explored here.

Rhode Island. In 1993, Rhode Island
applied for a Medicaid 1115 waiver,
permitting it to conduct a demonstration
project, Rlte Care. Rlte Care provides
comprehensive coverage to families on
the Family Independence Program
(formerly AFDC) and eligible uninsured
pregnant women, parents of children 18
and younger, and children up to age 19.
The program experienced a higher-than-
expected take-up rate, resulting in fiscal
pressure. In 2001, in an effort to reduce
the cost burden without cutting eligibili-
ty, the state obtained a SCHIP 1115
waiver, converting the parents of
children eligible for public health cover-
age from Medicaid to SCHIP and, in so
doing, receiving a higher SCHIP federal
match for these enrollees. Additionally,
Rhode Island created Rlte Share, a pre-
mium-assistance program for Rlte Care
eligible families with access to approved
employer-sponsored health insurance.
Rlte Share leverages employer dollars,
resulting in savings to the state for every

family enrolled in this plan instead of Rlte
Care, which has a full public subsidy.
Under Rlte Share, the state pays the
employee’s share of work-based insur-
ance premiums (families above 150
percent of the federal poverty level make
contributions according to a sliding
scale), the employee’s co-payments, and
wraparound coverage for Medicaid benefits
not in the employer’s health plan.

The results of Rlte Share are encouraging.
The Rhode Island Department of Human
Services (DHS) has determined that
subsidizing a family in Rlte Share plus
providing wraparound services costs the
state slightly more than half the expense
of covering the family through the Rlte
Care managed-care plan. Thus far, DHS
has transitioned 4 percent of the Rlte
Care population into Rlte Share,
resulting in a savings of about 2 percent
of the program.

Maine. Maine’s Dirigo Health Plan,
created in 2003, aims to increase access
to affordable health insurance coverage,
slow the growth of health care costs, and
improve the quality of care. One compo-
nent, DirigoChoice, offers affordable
health care insurance, through private
carriers, to small-business employees,
the self-employed, individuals without
access to employer coverage, and
dependents of these eligibles. The pro-
gram pools employee, employer, state,
and federal funding sources to be able to
deliver reduced-cost health insurance.

To increase coverage for its low-income
population, Maine obtained a federal
waiver to extend its state Medicaid
program, MaineCare, to parents with
incomes under 200 percent of the feder-
al poverty level and to childless adults
with incomes up to 125 percent of the
federal poverty level. For working
persons who are ineligible for MaineCare

and whose income is below 300 percent
of the federal poverty level, the state pro-
vides assistance in purchasing DirigoChoice
coverage on a sliding scale. Both the slid-
ing scale and the MaineCare expansion
are financed by redirecting a portion of
the disproportionate share hospital
(DSH) allocation.

In an effort to contain health care costs,
the Governor’s Office of Health Policy
and Finance now sets explicit targets for
quality, cost, and access to health care,
and establishes a budget to assist in
resource allocation. In a move to
increase transparency, Maine requires
that average charges and payments
accepted for commonly performed pro-
cedures be posted at each provider site.
In addition, Maine has expanded the
reach of its certificate-of-need program
to cover functions and expenditures
regardless of the site of care and has put
voluntary limits on the growth of
insurance premiums and health care
costs. Mandatory provider use of health
care information technology has also
been proposed.

In its first nine months, DirigoChoice
has enrolled over 7,000 residents and
achieved $43.7 million in savings for the
Maine health care system. However,
enrollment has been lower than expect-
ed, and a survey of enrollees finds that
only one in four was uninsured at the
time they purchased state-subsidized
insurance. The majority of DirigoChoice
enrollees simply switched from other
private insurance.

Massachusetts. In Massachusetts, April
2006 saw a bipartisan bill break political
gridlock and extend health care coverage
to the state’s 500,000 uninsured. The
new legislation combines the individual
mandate championed by conserva-
tives—that all individuals should have



health insurance—with liberal measures
such as large subsidies to help low-
income individuals buy insurance and a
proposed employer mandate—that all
firms with 11 or more employees should
provide health insurance. Under the
legislation, the approximately 200,000
uninsured Bay State residents who can
afford to buy health insurance will be
required to purchase it or face tax penal-
ties. To help these individuals acquire
coverage, the state will create a group
purchasing arrangement, allowing indi-
viduals and small businesses to buy
insurance as one entity.

The state’s additional uninsured
comprise two groups: (1) 100,000
individuals who qualify for Medicaid but
are not signed up for it, and (2) 200,000
individuals who do not qualify for
Medicaid but are too poor to buy health
insurance on their own. Those who
qualify for Medicaid will be enrolled in it,
with the cost split between the state and
the federal government. For the second
group, those earning up to 100 percent
of the federal poverty level will receive
coverage at no cost, while those with
incomes between 100 percent and 300
percent of the federal poverty level will
pay a portion of the premium, based on a
sliding scale. Funding for both groups
will come from (1) state funds set aside
to pay hospitals and other providers for
treating the uninsured, as well as (2)
$385 million pledged by the federal gov-
ernment if the state can show it is on a
path to reducing its number of unin-
sured. Funding would also come from
the proposed “pay or play” provision of
the new law, which requires all employ-
ers with 11 or more employees to provide
health care insurance or to pay an annu-
al penalty of $295 per worker.

Rhode Island, Maine, and Massachusetts
have implemented innovative policies to

address the rising ranks of the uninsured
and control health care costs. While
none of these plans to date has provided
a solution to all of the challenges the
health care system currently faces, they
do offer innovative ideas and reinvigo-
rate the ongoing national debate.

— Teresa M. Foy

1. The strategies employed by states include
reinsurance, high risk pools, and limited benefit
plans. This section only covers a subset of the
New England states’ utilization of federal
waivers and other state health system reforms.
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While Americans are willing to spend a lot for their own health care,
it is less clear what they are willing to spend on the care of others.




tax subsidies for employer-provided health bene-
fits and, to a lesser extent, by additional
provision of consumer-directed health plans.
While the conference attendees admit that
individually these measures will not save a lot of
money, 10 percent here and 15 percent there
begins to add up.

Importantly, moreover, these experts broadly
agree that insuring the uninsured would require
relatively modest amounts of additional money:
less than $100 billion a year—less than 5 per-
cent of current health care spending, roughly
the money returned to taxpayer pockets by
recent below-average tax rates,® and money
that could prevent 18,000 premature deaths a
year among the under 65’s, according to Jim
Mongan. On net, the extra cost is likely to be
modest because the uninsured already get some
medical care, often in emergency settings, and
because providing preventive care and disease
management for these people would actually be
more efficient over time.

Thus, once again, these analysts concur, the
nation should “just do it”* and move to provide
universal coverage without waiting until we figure
out how to control health care costs, for, as Judy
Feder argues, the uninsured minority have been
held hostage to our unwillingness to slow the
growth of health care spending for the well-
insured majority for 50 years. Henry Aaron
concludes that universal coverage may be a
necessary precondition for controlling overall
health care spending; others argue that universal
coverage must come first because cost control
without coverage would mean squeezing
low-income people out of the system.

As a result, the conference participants gener-
ally advocate using any cost savings reaped
from the reforms discussed above to fund
broader health insurance coverage. As one
example, Alan Weil suggests making employer
payments for health insurance benefits taxable
and using the resulting revenue gains to fund
universal coverage.

WHERE ACHIEVING
CONSENSUS BECOMES
A CHALLENGE

Beyond the large areas of agreement just
reviewed, two issues—the role of employer-based
insurance and the most appropriate way to con-
trol the growth of U.S. health care costs—defy
consensus. To start with the first issue, conference
attendees clearly have differing views on the mer-
its of this country’s employment-based system,
with some viewing it as a disaster and others find-
ing it an efficient organizing mechanism and a
progressive force. But whatever their views on its
merits, many analysts, including Altman,
Newhouse, and Feder, are convinced that the
employment-based system is crumbling badly,
because, as Bob Galvin notes, many employers
are seeking to escape from providing health insurance.
That explains why employers are responding to
consumer driven health care (CDHC) with enthu-
siasm; they really do believe that consumers must
become more cost conscious, but they are also
looking for an exit strategy. Thus, Bob Galvin pre-
dicts, 20 to 30 percent of all workers will soon
have health savings accounts (HSAs), which will
drive out traditional health insurance just as
401Ks drove out defined benefit pensions.
Employers don’t want to abandon their employ-
ees, but CDHC provides them with an acceptable
way out.

Unfortunately, however, CDHC and HSAs may
not work well for low-income workers, who may
opt to buy low-premium insurance but be unable
to pay the required deductibles, co-payments, and
other large, but less than “catastrophic”?expens-
es, or who may opt out of buying health insurance
altogether. These people will swell the ranks of the
uninsured or the Medicaid population because, as
noted above, many states are making imaginative
efforts to redefine their Medicaid programs to let
them cover nontraditional beneficiaries. (See the
box on page 20 for a description of recent state
initiatives in New England.)
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But, as Alan Weil points out, the fiscal stresses at
the state level are becoming enormous. As a
result, the U.S. Congress passed the Deficit
Reduction Act of 2005 to give the states new lee-
way to charge premiums and raise co-payments
for Medicaid benefits. Further, this law, for the first
time ever, allows states to end Medicaid coverage
for people who fail to pay these new premiums
and permits doctors, hospitals, and pharmacies to
deny services to Medicaid recipients who cannot
make required co-payments. To judge from
current trends, the end result of employer efforts
to avoid health care costs may be a de facto
single-payer (or largely single-payer) system, but
one in which impoverished people can be denied
needed health care. For analysts who favor
employer-based insurance, the only way to stem
this tide may be to get “pay or play” laws that
require all employers to provide health benefits or
to contribute to a state insurance pool back on the
list of live policy options.

The conference attendees also fail to reach con-
sensus on further ways to curb the growth in
health care costs beyond those that would posi-
tion the U.S. health care system to operate at
maximum efficiency, although most agree that
such efforts would have to include limiting insured
middle-class access to valuable new technologies.
At one extreme, a de facto single-payer system
would require a global budget. Would such a
budget fund optimum investment in new tech-
nologies, Bob Galvin wonders, or would a market-
based system do a better job? Also envisioning an
ongoing role for private insurance, Mark Pauly
suggests that insurers develop low-cost insurance
with limited access to new interventions and
technology and tout these products as “prudent
care” in order to slow the adoption of possibly
dangerous (and clearly expensive) new technolo-
gies. By contrast, Gene Steuerle would focus on
finding ways to encourage cost-saving rather than
cost-increasing new technologies. But privately
funded health care would set the standards for all,
because, as Jim Mongan points out, while we find
price rationing acceptable in the case of hotels, we
naturally find it far less palatable in the case of
health care. Still, non-price rationing through

government or private-payer limits leads to unac-
ceptable queues and shortages. In the same vein,
Nordhaus sees some attractions in Oregon’s sys-
tem of ranking medical interventions by using
cost-benefit analysis; and good sense would sug-
gest then drawing a line where the health care
budget is totally absorbed. Although the Oregon
system has many problems and critics, and, after
all, only applies to Medicaid patients, Nordhaus
argues that it is logical and flexible, responding to
both technological and fiscal developments.

In the end, conference participants conclude, the
major challenge posed by the U.S. health care sys-
tem remains summoning the political will to make
these difficult allocational decisions in a responsi-
ble and equitable way. Failure to meet this chal-
lenge would have serious consequences for the
U.S. macro economy and polity—as well as for
every individual family’s well-being.
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34 percent. (U.S. Congressional Budget Office, “CBO Study: The eligibility criteria for Medicare, Medicaid, the Federal Employees

Long-Term Budget Outlook,” December 2005.) Health Benefits Plan, and other health plan purchasing organiza-
19. Making a dent would require some really big changes. According to tions, instituting an employer or individual mandate, or shifting to a

Aaron, just to keep Medicare costs from rising faster than GDP single-payer system.
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BANK HIGHLIGHTS

OUR ROLE IN NEW ENGLAND
AND THE NATION

The Federal Reserve Bank of Boston, as the New England arm of the nation’s central bank, focuses its
activities in four major areas:

® maintaining a safe, efficient, and cost-effective payments system,

e conducting economic research to support monetary policy and
advance economic understanding,

® maintaining a safe and sound banking system, and

¢ sharing our expertise to benefit the public.

PAYMENTS SERVICES TODAY

The nation’s payments system is changing rapidly. At the Federal Reserve Bank of Boston, this means we
are constantly operating on two fronts—not only must we strive to see that the current payments system
continues to operate flawlessly, but also we must lead efforts to develop newer payments approaches and
bring them to reality.

It is clear that retail electronic transfers are coming to dominate paper checks in the U.S. payments
system. Many paper checks are now being converted to some type of electronic transaction, eliminating
the need to transport and process paper. For the Reserve Banks, this shift to electronic payments has
meant that we need to reduce the scale of our check processing operations in order to keep them efficient
and cost-effective. In 2005, we in Boston prepared for the consolidation of our Boston check processing
operations into our facility in Windsor Locks, Connecticut—a consolidation successfully executed in
February 2006. This was a major undertaking, involving renovations and new equipment at the Windsor
Locks facility and extensive communication with First District banks about the change. We also provided
as much assistance as we could to Boston staff in the form of access to retraining and other job opportu-
nities within the Bank and elsewhere as that staff prepared for the transition. Our excellent operational
data for the year are testimony to the dedication of that staff.

The year was the first full year of operation of “Check 21,” federal legislation that permits the payments
system to clear an electronic image of a check, with the creation of a “substitute check” if that is neces-
sary for clearing purposes. Not having to transport the physical paper check reduces costs and shortens
the check clearing and settlement process. The Federal Reserve Bank of Boston was active in 2005 both
in New England and nationally in promoting Check 21 services.
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PAYMENTS SERVICES TOMORROW

The Boston Bank has long been a leader in the research and development of new payments services.
We made notable progress in 2005 in two initiatives, both undertaken on behalf of the U.S. Treasury:

e The Internet Payment Platform project will provide federal agencies and their suppliers with a
means to take the paperwork out of procurement transactions—by converting purchase
orders, invoices, and payments to electronic form. In 2005, we researched, selected, and
installed for testing a commercial software package that provides the basis for this new
system. It is expected to be in production in late 2006, with the Bank providing continuing
operational and software development support.

e An initiative that has been ongoing for several years is the Stored Value Card (SVC) program
for U.S. military personnel, who can use these cards to pay for goods and services at overseas
Army bases, eliminating the need for the military to keep stores of cash overseas. In 2005, we
introduced a new self-service SVC kiosk. This kiosk allows overseas Army personnel to transfer
money from their U.S.-based account to their stored value card. We arranged the installation
of kiosks in Saudi Arabia, Honduras, Afghanistan, Bosnia, Kosovo, Qatar, and Germany. We
expect to extend the SVC program to other countries in 2006.

The Bank also has key responsibilities for electronic transactions in U.S. Treasury securities and high-
dollar-value Federal Reserve payments services. In 2005, the Bank’s Internet and Directory Services
Group (IDSQ) led the design of a new Internet connectivity option that improves the flexibility and
resiliency of Open Market operations. IDSG also played a leadership role in developing the security
policy for large financial institutions executing high-dollar transactions through the System’s new
web-based payments technology.




A new initiative launched in 2005 is our
Emerging Payments Research Group, a cross-
departmental research center created to
further the Federal Reserve System’s under-
standing of emerging payments trends,
especially consumer behavior. The group
helped shape a national survey of consumer
payment behavior, contributed to System-
sponsored studies, and organized a highly
successful conference exploring why con-
sumers choose the payment methods they do.

ECONOMIC RESEARCH

AND MONETARY POLICY

In 2005, rising energy prices and diminishing
excess capdcity raised concerns, on the one
side, about a possible acceleration in inflation.
On the other side, the economic devastation
caused by severe hurricanes and the increasing
potential for a slowdown in the housing mar-
ket raised concerns about a weakening
economy. Balancing the risks posed on both
sides, the Federal Open Market Committee
(FOMC) voted to raise interest rates at each of
its eight meetings, bringing the federal funds N

rate from 2.25 percent at the beginning of the year to 4.25 percent at the end. The resulting outcome—
low and well-contained inflation accompanied by sustainable growth—was as favorable a result as
policy makers could hope to see.

The Bank’s economists and visiting scholars produced a sizable volume of papers that spanned a wide
array of topics. Many of the papers were, or will be, published in top-flight economic journals. Macro
research examined the sources of inflation persistence in New Keynesian Phillips curves; the contribution
to the evolution of inflation of gradual shifts in the Federal Reserve’s implicit inflation goal; the contribu-
tion to the decrease in economic volatility since the early 1980s of a decline in the covariance between
sales and inventories; and the sources of, and uncertainty surrounding, longer-term trends in labor force
participation. Finance-related research identified elusive supply effects on prices in asset markets; incor-
porated a more realistic borrowing environment to explain why more people do not invest in equities; and
examined the link between properly measured cash flow and firm value.

The year 2005 was also the first full year of operation for the Bank’s new Center for Behavioral Economics
and Decision-Making, established to gain a better understanding of how economic decisions are made
with the ultimate aim of improving policy making. Behavioral economics seeks to understand economic
decision-making through controlled experiments designed to observe behavior under specific conditions.
A variety of papers were produced by the center in 2005, including one, “Tom Sawyer and the
Construction of Value,” that examines the importance of context in how people perceive the value
of compensation.
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The Bank’s 50th annual economic conference, held in June, addressed a topic widely recognized as
critical to our nation—how to deliver, value, and pay for health care. “Wanting It All: The Challenge of
Reforming the U.S. Health Care System” brought together economists, health practitioners, and policy
makers to explore the best ways to measure, finance, and distribute the benefits of modern health care.
A summary of the conference proceedings forms the essay featured in this Annual Report. The conference
served to highlight areas of consensus and disagreement in this complex field.

A SAFE AND SOUND BANKING SYSTEM

New England banks recorded strong profits in 2005, as was also true for banks nationwide. Credit
concerns were minimal, but interest margins narrowed as short-term rates rose by more than did
long-term rates.

The Bank’s Supervision, Regulation and Credit staff examined and supervised some 121 bank holding
companies in 2005, as well as 11 state member banks. While fulfilling this basic responsibility, the Bank
also took a leadership role in System work relating to the development of new regulatory policies and
supervisory approaches. Our System contributions draw heavily on the expertise we have built up in how
to assess, measure, and reserve for the operational risk that banks face. Operational risk is the risk of loss
from inadequate or failed internal processes, people, and systems or from external events. In a new initia-
tive, the Bank was chosen, along with three other Reserve Banks, to work on a program to achieve greater
quality and consistency in the System’s supervision of large financial institutions.



The Bank’s Supervision group continued in 2005 to conduct research designed to address and clarify
issues relating to international capital standards for large banks, standards commonly referred to as Basel
Il. Boston led two inter-agency work groups that examined aspects of the capital charges under the
proposed new system, and we prepared a white paper on the competitive impact of the Basel Il
operational-risk charge that we presented to Congressional staff.

In May, the Bank hosted an international conference on the operational risk aspects of Basel Il. With over
300 attendees, “Implementing an Advanced Management Approach for Operational Risk” called to
attention a mix of research, policy, and implementation considerations.

REGIONAL OUTREACH

A particular focus of the Bank is serving New England. We do so by providing economic and consumer
education, working with community organizations and financial institutions to foster community devel-
opment and insure broad and equitable access to credit and financial services, and providing high-quality
analysis of policy issues important to the region.

The Bank was pleased to see increased use in 2005 of virtually all of its economic education programs.
Some 11,300 persons visited our New England Economic Adventure and our other in-Bank economic
education programs, a 7 percent increase over 2004. In particular, we were pleased that these programs
reached more groups from low and moderate income communities. The Economic Adventure, a
combination of interactive games and
exhibits, continues to be very effective in
using New England as an example to teach
about the process of economic growth.

The Bank successfully piloted a college
version of Fed Challenge, our high school
competition simulating the deliberations of
Federal Reserve monetary policy makers. A
variety of schools participated, and the
quality of the competition was excellent.
We look forward to offering this program
on a larger scale in 2006.

A new consumer initiative of 2005 was the
establishment of the New England
Consumer Advisory Group (NECAQ),
consisting of regulators, industry profes-
sionals, attorneys, consumer advocates,
and leaders of nonprofit groups. The goal
of the Advisory Group is to identify and
address emerging consumer issues, and a
major activity was a conference on
alternative mortgages (the pitfalls, as well
as opportunities, they present for
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borrowers). The Bank also provided infor-
mation on how consumers may protect
themselves against such fraudulent
schemes as “phishing” and “pharming.”
The Bank’s consumer pamphlet on identity
theft, first produced in 2003, continued to
be extremely popular and was the most
frequently downloaded publication on the
Bank’s public web site.

In the area of community development, a
focus in 2005 was gaining a better under-
standing about New England’s immigrant
population and its financial services needs.
The Bank produced a discussion paper on
international remittances—a funds-trans-
fer mechanism important to the region’s
immigrant population—that has attracted
significant attention. The Bank’s Communities
& Banking publication included an article on
immigrant entrepreneurs; and the contribu-
tions of immigrants were also featured on
our web site and in an exhibit displaying
furniture and craftwork from the North
Bennet Street School, which was founded
over 100 years ago to serve Boston’s
immigrant population.

A major new regional outreach initiative of
the Bank came into being in 2005. The New

England Public Policy Center was formed to serve policy makers, policy analysts, and the public by con-
ducting high-quality research on major policy issues that affect the region and by facilitating information

sharing. While the Bank has a long history of
research and analysis of regional economic
issues, the Policy Center represents a new
approach in its focus on topical issues and in
responding to requests. The new research
unit is leveraging its capabilities by reaching
out to policy analysts throughout the region
to develop a network of expertise in regional
policy analysis. Among the topics addressed
by working papers and conferences in 2005
were New England water supply issues, the
pros and cons of mandating nurse-patient
ratios, housing issues, and, in a major con-
ference, New England’s energy situation.




THE BANK IN THE
COMMUNITY

As part of the nation's central bank, the Federal Reserve Bank of Boston promotes sound growth and
financial stability in New England and the nation. The Bank contributes to local communities, the region,
and the nation through its high-quality research, regulatory oversight, and financial services, and
through its commitment to leadership and innovation. Each year, Bank staff work and volunteer in many
community projects and initiatives including the following:

e We Care About Kids e Dearborn Middle School Mentoring Program
e Community Care Day e Classroom at the Workplace

e Homeless Children’s Holiday Party ¢ Boston After School Jobs Program

¢ Books and Kids Program ¢ Job Shadow Day

e FinTech Scholars Program e School-to-Career Project

e United Way * Workforce Development

e Boston Summer Jobs Program  Excel High School Partnership

* Boston Private Industry Council
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As of December 31, 2005

Executive Office
Cathy E. Minehan
President

Chief Executive Officer

Paul M. Connolly
First Vice President
Chief Operating Officer

Audit

Roland H. Marx, Jr.
Vice President
General Auditor

Anna M. Wong
Assistant Vice President
Assistant General Auditor

National Financial and
Accounting Services
Alan W. Bloom

Vice President

Ronald E. Mitchell, Jr.
Vice President

Carl S. Madsen
Assistant Vice President

David F. Tremblay
Assistant Vice President

Kristine M. Van Amsterdam
Assistant Vice President

Administrative and Legal
Services Group

William N. McDonough
Executive Vice President
General Counsel

Mary E. Fothergill
Vice President

David K. Park
Vice President
Associate General Counsel

Patricia Allouise
Assistant Vice President
Assistant General Counsel

Mary Hughes Bickerton
Assistant Vice President
Assistant General Counsel

Brian L. Donovan
Assistant Vice President

Barry Maddix
Assistant Vice President
Assistant General Counsel

H. Colby Rottler
Assistant Vice President

Regional Outreach and
Communications Group
Lynn E. Browne
Executive Vice President
Economic Advisor

Stephen G. Trebino
Vice President
Secretary

Richard C. Walker Ill
Vice President

Thomas L. Lavelle
Assistant Vice President
Public Information Officer

Robert Tannenwald
Assistant Vice President
Economist

Elaine Zetes
Assistant Vice President
Assistant Secretary

Research Group
Jeffrey C. Fuhrer
Senior Vice President
Director of Research

Jane S. Little
Vice President
Economist

Geoffrey M. B. Tootell
Vice President
Economist

Supervision, Regulation
and Credit Group

Eric S. Rosengren
Senior Vice President

Robert Augusta, Jr.
Vice President

Robert M. Brady
Vice President

Richard M. Burns
Vice President

Michael P. Malone
Vice President

James T. Nolan
Vice President

Patrick Y. de Fontnouvelle
Assistant Vice President

Peter F. Genevich
Assistant Vice President

Christopher ). Haley
Assistant Vice President

Jacqueline P. Palladino
Assistant Vice President

Judith S. Quenzel
Assistant Vice President

Preston S. Thompson
Assistant Vice President

Payments, Technology, and Resource
Management Group

Sarah G. Green

Executive Vice President

Resource Planning and Management
Cynthia A. Conley

Vice President

Associate General Counsel

Linda J. Mahon
Vice President

Stephen ). Bernard
Assistant Vice President

Krista M. Blair
Assistant Vice President

Jon D. Colvin
Assistant Vice President

Mary L. Cottman
Assistant Vice President

John ). Kroen
Assistant Vice President

Payments and Technology
Services and Innovation
Steven M. Whitney

Senior Vice President

James S. Cunha
Vice President

Christopher ). Gale
Vice President

Dexter S. Holt
Vice President

Linda K. Kopec
Vice President

Leah A. Maurer
Vice President

James McEneaney
Vice President

Marianne D. Crowe
Assistant Vice President

Amina P. Derbali
Assistant Vice President

Paul ). Malloy
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John E. McKinnon
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David L. Plasse
Assistant Vice President

James R. Rigoli
Assistant Vice President

Christopher H. Ritchie
Assistant Vice President

Amy O. Ross
Assistant Vice President

Joyce L. Sandvik
Assistant Vice President



The firm engaged by the Board of Governors for
the audits of the individual and combined financial
statements of the Reserve Banks for 2005 was
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (PwC). Fees for these
services totaled $4.6 million. To ensure auditor
independence, the Board of Governors requires
that PwC be independent in all matters relating
to the audit. Specifically, PwC may not perform
services for the Reserve Banks or others that would
place it in a position of auditing its own work,
making management decisions on behalf of the
Reserve Banks, or in any other way impairing its
audit independence. In 2005, the Bank did not
engage PwC for any material advisory services.
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MANAGEMENT ASSERTION

March 2, 2006
To the Board of Directors:

The management of the Federal Reserve Bank of Boston (“FRB Boston”) is responsible for the
preparation and fair presentation of the Statement of Financial Condition, Statement of Income, and
Statement of Changes in Capital as of December 31, 2005 (the “Financial Statements”). The Financial
Statements have been prepared in conformity with the accounting principles, policies, and practices
established by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System and as set forth in the Financial
Accounting Manual for the Federal Reserve Banks (“Manual”), and as such, include amounts, some
of which are based on judgments and estimates of management. To our knowledge, the Financial
Statements are, in all material respects, fairly presented in conformity with the accounting principles,
policies, and practices documented in the Manual and include all disclosures necessary for such
fair presentation.

The management of the FRB Boston is responsible for maintaining an effective process of internal
controls over financial reporting including the safeguarding of assets as they relate to the Financial
Statements. Such internal controls are designed to provide reasonable assurance to management and to
the Board of Directors regarding the preparation of reliable Financial Statements. This process
of internal controls contains self-monitoring mechanisms, including, but not limited to, divisions of
responsibility and a code of conduct. Once identified, any material deficiencies in the process of internal
controls are reported to management, and appropriate corrective measures are implemented.

Even an effective process of internal controls, no matter how well designed, has inherent limitations,
including the possibility of human error, and therefore can provide only reasonable assurance with respect
to the preparation of reliable financial statements.

The management of the FRB Boston assessed its process of internal controls over financial reporting
including the safeguarding of assets reflected in the Financial Statements, based upon the criteria
established in the “Internal Control—Integrated Framework” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on this assessment, we believe that the FRB
Boston maintained an effective process of internal controls over financial reporting including the
safeguarding of assets as they relate to the Financial Statements.

Federal Reserve Bank of Boston
Cathy E. Minehan, President Paul M. Connolly, First Vice President

%8.%%& Posed M. Crnmdlly

Linda Mahon, Principal Accounting Officer



REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

PRICEWATERHOUSE(COPERS

To the Board of Directors of the
Federal Reserve Bank of Boston

We have examined management’s assertion, included in the accompanying Management Assertion, that
the Federal Reserve Bank of Boston (“FRB Boston”) maintained effective internal control over financial
reporting and the safeguarding of assets as they relate to the financial statements as of December 31,
2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. FRB Boston’s management is responsible for
maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and safeguarding of assets as they relate to
the financial statements. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assertion based on
our examination.

Our examination was conducted in accordance with attestation standards established by the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and, accordingly, included obtaining an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of
internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.
We believe that our examination provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Because of inherent limitations in any internal control, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and
not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of internal control over financial reporting to future
periods are subject to the risk that the internal control may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assertion that FRB Boston maintained effective internal control over finan-
cial reporting and over the safeguarding of assets as they relate to the financial statements as of
December 31, 2005, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on criteria established in
Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of management and the Board of Directors and

Audit Committee of FRB Boston, and any organization with legally defined oversight responsibilities and
is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

Fos 72 RS A4S

March 8, 2006

43



44

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

PRICEWATERHOUSE(COPERS

To the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System
and the Board of Directors of the Federal Reserve Bank of Boston

We have audited the accompanying statements of condition of the Federal Reserve Bank of Boston
(the “Bank”) as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related statements of income and changes in
capital for the years then ended, which have been prepared in conformity with the accounting principles,
policies, and practices established by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System. These finan-
cial statements are the responsibility of the Bank’s management. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining,
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well
as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reason-
able basis for our opinion.

As described in Note 3, these financial statements were prepared in conformity with the accounting prin-
ciples, policies, and practices established by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System. These
principles, policies, and practices, which were designed to meet the specialized accounting and reporting
needs of the Federal Reserve System, are set forth in the Financial Accounting Manual for Federal Reserve
Banks and constitute a comprehensive basis of accounting other than accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the finan-
cial position of the Bank as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and results of its operations for the years
then ended, on the basis of accounting described in Note 3.

Fors 2 RS A4

March 8, 2006



STATEMENTS OF CONDITION
as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 (in millions)

2005 2004
ASSETS
Gold certificates $510 $494
Special drawing rights certificates 115 115
Coin 31 19
Items in process of collection 368 457
Loans to depository institutions 2 1
U.S. government securities, net 38,383 34,072
Investments denominated in foreign currencies 2,405 1,083
Accrued interest receivable 298 239
Interdistrict settlement account - 2,979
Bank premises and equipment, net 131 118
Interest on Federal Reserve notes due from U.S. Treasury - 460
Other assets 24 22
Total assets $42,267 $40,059
LIABILITIES AND CAPITAL
Liabilities:
Federal Reserve notes outstanding, net $34,548 $33,917
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase 1,561 1,446
Deposits:
Depository institutions 621 1,050
Other deposits 5 4
Deferred credit items 488 578
Interest on Federal Reserve notes due U.S. Treasury 1,068 -
Interdistrict settlement account 3,268 -
Accrued benefit costs 58 60
Other liabilities 16 13
Total liabilities 41,633 37,068
Capital:
Capital paid-in 317 1,638
Surplus 317 1,353
Total capital 634 2,991
Total liabilities and capital $42,267 $40,059

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF INCOME

for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 (in millions)

2005 2004
Interest income:
Interest on U.S. government securities $1,410 $1,040
Interest on investments denominated in foreign currencies 34 14
Total interest income 1,444 1,054
Interest expense:
Interest expense on securities sold under agreements
to repurchase 41 14
Net interest income 1,403 1,040
Other operating (loss) income:
Income from services - 38
Compensation received for check services provided 45 -
Reimbursable services to government agencies 20 23
Foreign currency (losses) gains, net (313) 62
Other income 15 12
Total other operating (loss) income (233) 135
Operating expenses:
Salaries and other benefits 88 91
Occupancy expense 15 14
Equipment expense 10 13
Assessments by the Board of Governors 53 48
Other expenses 52 51
Total operating expenses 218 217
Net income prior to distribution $952 $958
Distribution of net income:
Dividends paid to member banks $51 $53
Transferred (from) to surplus (1,036) 905
Payments to U.S. Treasury as interest on
Federal Reserve notes 1,937 -
Total distribution $952 $958

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.




STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN CAPITAL
for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 (in millions)

Capital Total
Paid-in Surplus Capital
Balance at January 1, 2004
(9.0 million shares) $448 $448 $896
Transferred to surplus - 905 905
Net change in capital stock issued
(23.8 million shares) 1,190 - 1,190
Balance at December 31, 2004
(32.8 million shares) 1,638 1,353 2,991
Transferred from surplus - (1,036) (1,036)
Net change in capital stock redeemed
(26.4 million shares) (1,321) - (1,321)
Balance at December 31, 2005
(6.4 million shares) $317 $317 $634

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. STRUCTURE

The Federal Reserve Bank of Boston (“Bank”) is part of the Federal Reserve System (“System”) and one
of the twelve Reserve Banks (“Reserve Banks”) created by Congress under the Federal Reserve Act of
1913 (“Federal Reserve Act”), which established the central bank of the United States. The Reserve Banks
are chartered by the federal government and possess a unique set of governmental, corporate, and
central bank characteristics. The Bank serves the First Federal Reserve District, which includes Maine,
Massachusetts, New Hampshire, Rhode Island, Vermont and a portion of Connecticut.

In accordance with the Federal Reserve Act, supervision and control of the Bank are exercised by a Board
of Directors. The Federal Reserve Act specifies the composition of the Board of Directors for each of the
Reserve Banks. Each board is composed of nine members serving three-year terms: three directors, includ-
ing those designated as Chairman and Deputy Chairman, are appointed by the Board of Governors, and
six directors are elected by member banks. Banks that are members of the System include all national
banks and any state-chartered banks that apply and are approved for membership in the System.
Member banks are divided into three classes according to size. Member banks in each class elect one
director representing member banks and one representing the public. In any election of directors, each
member bank receives one vote, regardless of the number of shares of Reserve Bank stock it holds.

The System also consists, in part, of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (“Board
of Governors”) and the Federal Open Market Committee (“FOMC”). The Board of Governors, an
independent federal agency, is charged by the Federal Reserve Act with a number of specific duties,
including general supervision over the Reserve Banks. The FOMC is composed of members of the Board
of Governors, the president of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (“FRBNY”), and on a rotating basis
four other Reserve Bank presidents.

2. OPERATIONS AND SERVICES

The System performs a variety of services and operations. Functions include formulating and conducting
monetary policy; participating actively in the payments system including large-dollar transfers of funds,
automated clearinghouse (“ACH”) operations, and check processing; distributing coin and
currency; performing fiscal agency functions for the U.S. Treasury and certain federal agencies; serving as
the federal government’s bank; providing short-term loans to depository institutions; serving the
consumer and the community by providing educational materials and information regarding consumer
laws; supervising bank holding companies, state member banks, and U.S. offices of foreign banking
organizations; and administering other regulations of the Board of Governors. The System also
provides certain services to foreign central banks, governments, and international official institutions.

The FOMC, in the conduct of monetary policy, establishes policy regarding domestic open market
operations, oversees these operations, and annually issues authorizations and directives to the FRBNY
for its execution of transactions. FRBNY is authorized to conduct operations in domestic markets, includ-
ing direct purchase and sale of U. S. government securities, the purchase of securities under agreements
to resell, the sale of securities under agreements to repurchase, and the lending of U.S.
government securities. FRBNY executes these open market transactions and holds the resulting
securities, with the exception of securities purchased under agreements to resell, in the portfolio
known as the System Open Market Account (“SOMA”).



In addition to authorizing and directing operations in the domestic securities market, the FOMC author-
izes and directs FRBNY to execute operations in foreign markets for major currencies in order to counter
disorderly conditions in exchange markets or to meet other needs specified by the FOMC in carrying out
the System’s central bank responsibilities. The FRBNY is authorized by the FOMC to hold balances of, and
to execute spot and forward foreign exchange (“F/X”) and securities contracts for nine foreign
currencies and to invest such foreign currency holdings ensuring adequate liquidity is maintained. In addi-
tion, FRBNY is authorized to maintain reciprocal currency arrangements (“F/X swaps”) with two central
banks, and “warehouse* foreign currencies for the U.S. Treasury and Exchange Stabilization Fund (“ESF”)
through the Reserve Banks. In connection with its foreign currency activities, FRBNY may enter into con-
tracts that contain varying degrees of off-balance-sheet market risk, because they represent contractual
commitments involving future settlement and counter-party credit risk. The FRBNY controls credit risk by
obtaining credit approvals, establishing transaction limits, and performing daily monitoring procedures.

Although Reserve Banks are separate legal entities, in the interests of greater efficiency and effectiveness,
they collaborate in the delivery of certain operations and services. The collaboration takes the form of cen-
tralized competency centers, operations sites, and product or service offices that have responsibility for
the delivery of certain services on behalf of the Reserve Banks. Various operational and management
models are used and are supported by service agreements between the Reserve Bank providing the
service and the other eleven Reserve Banks. In some cases, costs incurred by a Reserve Bank for services
provided to other Reserve Banks are not shared; in other cases, Reserve Banks are billed for services
provided to them by another Reserve Bank.

Maijor services provided on behalf of the System by the Bank, for which the costs were not redistributed to
the other Reserve Banks, include: Internet and Directory Services, National Check Image Archive Services,
Financial Support Office, and Centralized Accounting Technology Services.

Beginning in 2005, the Reserve Banks adopted a new management model for providing check services to
depository institutions. Under this new model, the Federal Reserve Bank of Atlanta (“FRBA”) has the over-
all responsibility for managing the Reserve Banks’ provision of check services and recognizes total System
check revenue on its Statements of Income. FRBA compensates the other eleven Banks for the costs
incurred to provide check services. This compensation is reported as “Compensation received for check
services provided” in the Statements of Income. If the management model had been in place in 2004,
the Bank would have reported $54 million as compensation received for check services provided and $38
million in check revenue would have been reported by FRB Atlanta rather than the Bank.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Accounting principles for entities with the unique powers and responsibilities of the nation’s central bank
have not been formulated by the various accounting standard-setting bodies. The Board of Governors has
developed specialized accounting principles and practices that it believes are appropriate for the signifi-
cantly different nature and function of a central bank as compared with the private sector. These
accounting principles and practices are documented in the Financial Accounting Manual for Federal
Reserve Banks (“Financial Accounting Manual”), which is issued by the Board of Governors. All Reserve
Banks are required to adopt and apply accounting policies and practices that are consistent with the
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Financial Accounting Manual and the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the
Financial Accounting Manual.

Differences exist between the accounting principles and practices in the Financial Accounting Manual
and those generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”) primarily due to the unique nature of the
Bank’s powers and responsibilities as part of the nation’s central bank. The primary difference is the pres-
entation of all security holdings at amortized cost, rather than using the fair value presentation
requirements in accordance with GAAP. Amortized cost more appropriately reflects the Bank’s security
holdings given its unique responsibility to conduct monetary policy. While the application of current mar-
ket prices to the securities holdings may result in values substantially above or below their carrying
values, these unrealized changes in value would have no direct effect on the quantity of reserves available
to the banking system or on the prospects for future Bank earnings or capital. Both the domestic and for-
eign components of the SOMA portfolio may involve transactions that result in gains or losses when
holdings are sold prior to maturity. Decisions regarding security and foreign currency transactions, includ-
ing their purchase and sale, are motivated by monetary policy objectives rather than profit. Accordingly,
market values, earnings, and any gains or losses resulting from the sale of such securities and currencies
are incidental to the open market operations and do not motivate its activities or policy decisions.

In addition, the Bank has elected not to present a Statement of Cash Flows because the liquidity and cash
position of the Bank are not a primary concern given the Bank’s unique powers and responsibilities. A
Statement of Cash Flows, therefore, would not provide any additional meaningful information. Other
information regarding the Bank’s activities is provided in, or may be derived from, the Statements of
Condition, Income, and Changes in Capital. There are no other significant differences between the
policies outlined in the Financial Accounting Manual and GAAP.

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with the Financial Accounting Manual requires
management to make certain estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the
reported amounts of income and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from
those estimates. Unique accounts and significant accounting policies are explained below.

a. Gold and Special Drawing Rights Certificates
The Secretary of the U.S. Treasury is authorized to issue gold and special drawing rights (“SDR”)
certificates to the Reserve Banks.

Payment for the gold certificates by the Reserve Banks is made by crediting equivalent amounts in
dollars into the account established for the U.S. Treasury. These gold certificates held by the Reserve
Banks are required to be backed by the gold of the U.S. Treasury. The U.S. Treasury may reacquire the gold
certificates at any time and the Reserve Banks must deliver them to the U.S. Treasury. At such time, the
U.S. Treasury’s account is charged, and the Reserve Banks’ gold certificate accounts are lowered. The

value of gold for purposes of backing the gold certificates is set by law at $42 %/5 a fine troy ounce. The

Board of Governors allocates the gold certificates among Reserve Banks once a year based on the
average Federal Reserve notes outstanding in each Reserve Bank.

Special drawing rights (“SDRs”) are issued by the International Monetary Fund (“Fund”) to its members
in proportion to each member’s quota in the Fund at the time of issuance. SDRs serve as a supplement
to international monetary reserves and may be transferred from one national monetary authority to



another. Under the law providing for United States participation in the SDR system, the Secretary of
the U.S. Treasury is authorized to issue SDR certificates, somewhat like gold certificates, to the Reserve
Banks. At such time, equivalent amounts in dollars are credited to the account established for the U.S.
Treasury, and the Reserve Banks’ SDR certificate accounts are increased. The Reserve Banks are required
to purchase SDR certificates, at the direction of the U.S. Treasury, for the purpose of financing SDR acqui-
sitions or for financing exchange stabilization operations. At the time SDR transactions occur, the Board
of Governors allocates SDR certificate transactions among Reserve Banks based upon Federal Reserve
notes outstanding in each District at the end of the preceding year. There were no SDR transactions in
2005 or 2004.

b. Loans to Depository Institutions

All depository institutions that maintain reservable transaction accounts or nonpersonal time deposits,
as defined in regulations issued by the Board of Governors, have borrowing privileges at the discretion of
the Reserve Bank. Borrowers execute certain lending agreements and deposit sufficient collateral before
credit is extended. Loans are evaluated for collectibility, and currently all are considered collectible and
fully collateralized. If loans were ever deemed to be uncollectible, an appropriate reserve would be estab-
lished. Interest is accrued using the applicable discount rate established at least every fourteen days by the
Board of Directors of the Reserve Bank, subject to review by the Board of Governors.

c. U.S. Government Securities and Investments Denominated in Foreign Currencies

U.S. government securities and investments denominated in foreign currencies comprising the SOMA are
recorded at cost, on a settlement-date basis, and adjusted for amortization of premiums or accretion of
discounts on a straight-line basis. Interest income is accrued on a straight-line basis.Gains and losses
resulting from sales of securities are determined by specific issues based on average cost. Foreign-curren-
cy-denominated assets are revalued daily at current foreign currency market exchange rates in order to
report these assets in U.S. dollars. Realized and unrealized gains and losses on investments denominated
in foreign currencies are reported as “Foreign currency gains (losses), net.”

Activity related to U.S. government securities, including the related premiums, discounts, and realized and
unredlized gains and losses, is allocated to each Reserve Bank on a percentage basis derived from an
annual settlement of interdistrict clearings that occurs in April of each year. The settlement equalizes
Reserve Bank gold certificate holdings to Federal Reserve notes outstanding in each District. Activity
related to investments in foreign-currency-denominated assets is allocated to each Reserve Bank based
on the ratio of each Reserve Bank’s capital and surplus to aggregate capital and surplus at the preceding
December 31.

d. U.S. Government Securities Sold Under Agreements to Repurchase and Securities Lending
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase are accounted for as financing transactions and the
associated interest expense is recognized over the life of the transaction. These transactions are carried in
the Statements of Condition at their contractual amounts and the related accrued interest is reported as
a component of “Other Liabilities”.

U.S. government securities held in the SOMA are lent to U.S. government securities dealers and to banks
participating in U.S. government securities clearing arrangements in order to facilitate the effective func-
tioning of the domestic securities market. Securities-lending transactions are fully collateralized by other
U.S. government securities and the collateral taken is in excess of the market value of the securities
loaned. The FRBNY charges the dealer or bank a fee for borrowing securities and the fees are reported as
a component of “Other Income” in the Statements of Income.
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Activity related to U.S. government securities sold under agreements to repurchase and securities
lending is allocated to each Reserve Bank on a percentage basis derived from the annual settlement of
interdistrict clearings. Securities purchased under agreements to resell are allocated to FRBNY and not to
the other Banks.

e. Foreign Currency Swaps and Warehousing

F/X swap arrangements are contractual agreements between two parties to exchange specified
currencies, at a specified price, on a specified date. The parties agree to exchange their currencies up to a
pre-arranged maximum amount and for an agreed-upon period of time (up to twelve months), at an
agreed-upon interest rate. These arrangements give the FOMC temporary access to the foreign
currencies it may need to intervene to support the dollar and give the counterparty temporary access
to dollars it may need to support its own currency. Drawings under the F/X swap arrangements can
be initiated by either FRBNY or the counterparty (the drawer) and must be agreed to by the drawee. The
F/X swaps are structured so that the party initiating the transaction bears the exchange rate risk upon
maturity. FRBNY will generally invest the foreign currency received under an F/X swap in
interest-bearing instruments.

Warehousing is an arrangement under which the FOMC agrees to exchange, at the request of the U.S.
Treasury, U.S. dollars for foreign currencies held by the U.S. Treasury or ESF over a limited period of time.
The purpose of the warehousing facility is to supplement the U.S. dollar resources of the U.S. Treasury and
ESF for financing purchases of foreign currencies and related international operations.

Foreign currency swaps and warehousing agreements are revalued daily at current market exchange
rates. Activity related to these agreements, with the exception of the unrealized gains and losses
resulting from the daily revaluation, is allocated to each Reserve Bank based on the ratio of each Reserve
Bank’s capital and surplus to aggregate capital and surplus at the preceding December 31. Unrealized
gains and losses resulting from the daily revaluation are allocated to FRBNY and not to
the other Reserve Banks.

f. Bank Premises, Equipment, and Software

Bank premises and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is
calculated on a straight-line basis over estimated useful lives of assets ranging from two to fifty years.
Major alterations, renovations, and improvements are capitalized at cost as additions to the asset
accounts and are amortized over the remaining useful life of the asset. Maintenance, repairs, and minor
replacements are charged to operating expense in the year incurred. Capitalized assets including soft-
ware, building, leasehold improvements, furniture, and equipment are impaired when it is determined
that the net realizable value is significantly less than book value and is not recoverable.

Costsincurred for software, either developed internally or acquired for internal use, during the application
development stage are capitalized based on the cost of direct services and materials associated with
designing, coding, installing, or testing software. Capitalized software costs are amortized on a straight-
line basis over the estimated useful lives of the software applications, which range from two to five years.

g. Interdistrict Settlement Account

At the close of business each day, each Reserve Bank assembles the payments due to or from other
Reserve Banks as a result of the day’s transactions that involve depository institution accounts held by
other Districts. Such transactions may include funds settlement, check clearing, and ACH operations.



The cumulative net amount due to or from the other Reserve Banks is reflected in the “Interdistrict settle-
ment account” in the Statements of Condition.

h. Federal Reserve Notes

Federal Reserve notes are the circulating currency of the United States. These notes are issued through
the various Federal Reserve agents (the Chairman of the Board of Directors of each Reserve Bank) to the
Reserve Banks upon deposit with such agents of certain classes of collateral security, typically U.S. gov-
ernment securities. These notes are identified as issued to a specific Reserve Bank. The Federal Reserve
Act provides that the collateral security tendered by the Reserve Bank to the Federal Reserve agent must
be equal to the sum of the notes applied for by such Reserve Bank.

Assets eligible to be pledged as collateral security include all Bank assets. The collateral value is equal to
the book value of the collateral tendered, with the exception of securities, whose collateral value is equal
to the par value of the securities tendered. The par value of securities pledged for securities sold under
agreements to repurchase is deducted.

The Board of Governors may, at any time, call upon a Reserve Bank for additional security to adequately
collateralize the Federal Reserve notes. To satisfy the obligation to provide sufficient collateral for out-
standing Federal Reserve notes, the Reserve Banks have entered into an agreement that provides for
certain assets of the Reserve Banks to be jointly pledged as collateral for the Federal Reserve notes of all
Reserve Banks. In the event that this collateral is insufficient, the Federal Reserve Act provides that Federal
Reserve notes become a first and paramount lien on all the assets of the Reserve Banks. Finally, as obliga-
tions of the United States, Federal Reserve notes are backed by the full faith and credit of the United
States government.

The “Federal Reserve notes outstanding, net” account represents the Bank’s Federal Reserve notes
outstanding, reduced by the currency issued to the Bank but not in circulation, of $4,424 million, and
$4,137 million at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

i. ltems in Process of Collection and Deferred Credit ltems

The balance in the “Items in process of collection” line in the Statements of Condition primarily represents
amounts attributable to checks that have been deposited for collection by the payee depository institu-
tion and, as of the balance sheet date, have not yet been collected from the payor depository institution.
Deferred credit items are the counterpart liability to items in process of collection, and the amounts in this
account arise from deferring credit for deposited items until the amounts are collected. The balances in
both accounts can fluctuate and vary significantly from day to day.

j. Capital Paid-in

The Federal Reserve Act requires that each member bank subscribe to the capital stock of the Reserve
Bank in an amount equal to 6 percent of the capital and surplus of the member bank. These shares are
nonvoting with a par value of $100 and may not be transferred or hypothecated. As a member bank’s
capital and surplus changes, its holdings of Reserve Bank stock must be adjusted. Currently, only one-half
of the subscription is paid-in and the remainder is subject to call. By law, each Bank is required to pay each
member bank an annual dividend of 6 percent on the paid-in capital stock. This cumulative dividend is
paid semiannually. A member bank is liable for Reserve Bank liabilities up to twice the par value of stock
subscribed by it.
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k. Surplus

The Board of Governors requires Reserve Banks to maintain a surplus equal to the amount of capital
paid-in as of December 31. This amount is intended to provide additional capital and reduce the
possibility that the Reserve Banks would be required to call on member banks for additional capital.
Pursuant to Section 16 of the Federal Reserve Act, Reserve Banks are required by the Board of Governors
to transfer to the U.S. Treasury as interest on Federal Reserve notes excess earnings, after providing for
the costs of operations, payment of dividends, and reservation of an amount necessary to equate surplus
with capital paid-in.

In the event of losses or an increase in capital paid-in at a Reserve Bank, payments to the U.S. Treasury
are suspended and earnings are retained until the surplus is equal to the capital paid-in. Weekly payments
to the U.S. Treasury may vary significantly.

In the event of a decrease in capital paid-in, the excess surplus, after equating capital paid-in and surplus
at December 31, is distributed to the U.S. Treasury in the following year. This amount is reported as a
component of “Payments to U.S. Treasury as interest on Federal Reserve notes”.

Due to the substantial increase in capital paid-in and the transfer of surplus, surplus was not equated to
capital at December 31, 2004. The amount of additional surplus required due to these events exceeded
the Bank’s net income in 2004.

l. Income and Costs related to U.S. Treasury Services

The Bank is required by the Federal Reserve Act to serve as fiscal agent and depository of the United
States. By statute, the Department of the Treasury is permitted, but not required, to pay for
these services.

m. Assessments by the Board of Governors

The Board of Governors assesses the Reserve Banks to fund its operations based on each Reserve Bank’s
capital and surplus balances. The Board of Governors also assesses each Reserve Bank for the expenses
incurred for the U.S. Treasury to issue and retire Federal Reserve notes based on each Reserve Bank’s
share of the number of notes comprising the System’s net liability for Federal Reserve notes on December
31 of the previous year.

n. Taxes

The Reserve Banks are exempt from federal, state, and local taxes, except for taxes on real property. The
Bank’s real property taxes were $5 million for each of the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, and
are reported as a component of “Occupancy expense.”

o. Restructuring Charges

In 2003, the System began the restructuring of several operations, primarily check, cash, and U.S.
Treasury services. The restructuring included streamlining the management and support structures,
reducing staff, decreasing the number of processing locations, and increasing processing capacity in the
remaining locations. These restructuring activities continued in 2004 and 2005.

Footnote 10 describes the restructuring and provides information about the Bank’s costs and liabilities
associated with employee separations and contract terminations. The costs associated with the write-
down of certain Bank assets are discussed in footnote 6. Costs and liabilities associated with enhanced



pension benefits in connection with the restructuring activities for all Reserve Banks are recorded on the
books of the FRBNY and those associated with enhanced post-retirement benefits are discussed in
footnote 9.

4., U.S. GOVERNMENT SECURITIES, SECURITIES SOLD UNDER AGREEMENTS
TO REPURCHASE, AND SECURITIES LENDING

The FRBNY, on behalf of the Reserve Banks, holds securities bought outright in the SOMA. The Bank’s
allocated share of SOMA balances was approximately 5.116 percent and 4.696 percent at December 31,
2005 and 2004, respectively.

The Bank’s allocated share of U.S. Government securities, net, held in the SOMA at December 31, was as
follows (in millions):

2005 2004
Par value:

U.S. government:
Bills $13,879 $12,348
Notes 19,448 16,944
Bonds 4,749 4 415
Total par value 38,076 33,707
Unamortized premiums 451 442
Unaccreted discounts (144) 77)
Total allocated to Bank $38,383 $34,072

The total of the U.S. government securities, net held in the SOMA was $750,202 million and $725,584
million at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

At December 31, 2005 and 2004, the total contract amount of securities sold under agreements to
repurchase was $30,505 million and $30,783 million, respectively, of which $1,561 million and $1,446
million, were allocated to the Bank. The total par value of the SOMA securities pledged for securities sold
under agreements to repurchase at December 31, 2005 and 2004 was $30,559 million and $30,808
million, respectively, of which $1,563 million and $1,447 million was allocated to the Bank.
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The maturity distribution of U.S. government securities bought outright and securities sold under
agreements to repurchase, that were allocated to the Bank at December 31, 2005, was as follows
(in millions):

Securities Sold

U.S. Government Under Agreements
Securities to Repurchase

(Par value)  (Contract amount)

Maturities of Securities Held

Within 15 days $2,098 $1,561
16 days to 90 days 8,813 -
91days to 1year 9,531 -
Over 1year to 5 years 10,782 -
Over 5 years to 10 years 2,901 -
Over 10 years 3,951 -

Total $38,076 $1,561

At December 31, 2005 and 2004, U.S. government securities with par values of $3,776 million and $6,609
million, respectively, were loaned from the SOMA, of which $193 million and $310 million, respectively,
were allocated to the Bank.

5. INVESTMENTS DENOMINATED IN FOREIGN CURRENCIES

The FRBNY, on behalf of the Reserve Banks, holds foreign currency deposits with foreign central banks and
the Bank for International Settlements and invests in foreign government debt instruments.
Foreign government debt instruments held include both securities bought outright and securities pur-
chased under agreements to resell. These investments are guaranteed as to principal and interest by the
foreign governments.

The Bank’s allocated share of investments denominated in foreign currencies was approximately 12.706
percent and 5.069 percent at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

The Bank’s allocated share of investments denominated in foreign currencies, including accrued
interest, valued at current foreign currency market exchange rates at December 31, was as follows
(in millions):

2005 2004

European Union Euro:
Foreign currency deposits $689 $308
Securities purchased under agreements to resell 245 109
Government debt instruments 452 200

Japanese Yen:

Foreign currency deposits 333 78
Government debt instruments 686 388
Total $2,405 $1,083

Total System investments denominated in foreign currencies were $18,928 million and $21,368 million at
December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.



The maturity distribution of investments denominated in foreign currencies which were allocated to the
Bank at December 31, 2005, was as follows (in millions):

European Japanese
Euro Yen Total
Maturities of Investments Denominated
in Foreign Currencies

Within 15 days $429 $333 $762

16 days to 90 days 327 86 413
91days to 1year 265 128 393
Over 1year to 5 years 363 472 835
Over 5 years to 10 years 2 - 2
Over 10 years - - -
Total $1,386 $1,019 $2,405

At December 31, 2005 and 2004, there were no material open foreign exchange contracts.

At December 31, 2005 and 2004, the warehousing facility was $5,000 million, with no
balance outstanding.

6. BANK PREMISES, EQUIPMENT, AND SOFTWARE

A summary of bank premises and equipment at December 31 is as follows (in millions):

Useful Life
Range (in Years) 2005 2004
Bank premises and equipment:

Land n/a $27 $22

Buildings 1-50 119 108

Building machinery and equipment 1-18 27 20

Construction in progress n/a 3 8

Furniture and equipment 1-10 63 61

Subtotal $239 $219
Accumulated depreciation (108) (102)

Bank premises and equipment, net $131 $117

Depreciation expense, for the years ended $9 $10
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The Bank leases space to outside tenants with lease terms ranging from one to 11 years. Rental income
from such leases was $11 million and $10 million for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. Future minimum lease payments under noncancelable agreements in existence at December
31, 2005, were (in millions):

2006 S8
2007 8
2008 8
2009 7
2010 7
Thereafter 26

S64

The Bank has capitalized software assets, net of amortization, of $3 million at December 31, 2005 and
2004. Amortization expense was $2 million for each of the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004.
Capitalized software assets are reported as a component of “Other assets” and related amortization is
reported as a component of “Other expenses.”

Assets impaired as a result of the Bank’s restructuring plan, as discussed in footnote 10, include software,
building, and equipment. Asset impairment losses of $148 thousand and $1.3 million for the periods
ending December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, were determined using fair values based on quoted
market values or other valuation techniques and are reported as a component of “Other expenses.”

7. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

At December 31, 2005, the Bank was obligated under noncancelable leases for premises and equipment
with terms ranging from one to approximately 7 years. These leases provide for increased rental payments
based upon increases in real estate taxes, operating costs, or selected price indices.

Rental expense under operating leases for certain operating facilities, warehouses, and data processing
and office equipment (including taxes, insurance and maintenance when included in rent), net of sublease
rentals, was $1 million and $3 million for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
Certain of the Bank’s leases have options to renew.

Future minimum rental payments under noncancelable operating leases, net of sublease rentals, with
terms of one year or more, at December 31, 2005, were (in millions):

Operating

2006 $530
2007 530
2008 530
2009 530
2010 530
Thereafter 928
$3,578

At December 31, 2005, there were no other material commitments and long-term obligations in excess of
one year.



Under the Insurance Agreement of the Federal Reserve Banks, each Reserve Bank has agreed to bear, on a
per incident basis, a pro rata share of losses in excess of one percent of the capital paid-in of the
claiming Reserve Bank, up to 50 percent of the total capital paid-in of all Reserve Banks. Losses are borne
in the ratio that a Reserve Bank’s capital paid-in bears to the total capital paid-in of all Reserve Banks at
the beginning of the calendar year in which the loss is shared. No claims were outstanding under such
agreement at December 31, 2005 or 2004.

The Bank is involved in certain legal actions and claims arising in the ordinary course of business. Although
it is difficult to predict the ultimate outcome of these actions, in management’s opinion, based on discus-
sions with counsel, the aforementioned litigation and claims will be resolved without material adverse
effect on the financial position or results of operations of the Bank.

8. RETIREMENT AND THRIFT PLANS

Retirement Plans

The Bank currently offers three defined benefit retirement plans to its employees, based on length of
service and level of compensation. Substantially all of the Bank’s employees participate in the Retirement
Plan for Employees of the Federal Reserve System (“System Plan”). Employees at certain compensation
levels participate in the Benefit Equalization Retirement Plan (“BEP”) and certain Bank officers participate
in the Supplemental Employee Retirement Plan (“SERP”).

The System Plan is a multi-employer plan with contributions fully funded by participating employers.
Participating employers are the Federal Reserve Banks, the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve
System, and the Office of Employee Benefits of the Federal Reserve System. No separate accounting is
maintained of assets contributed by the participating employers. The FRBNY acts as a sponsor of the
System Plan and the costs associated with the Plan are not redistributed to other participating employers.
The Bank’s benefit obligation and net pension costs for the BEP and the SERP at December 31, 2005 and
2004, and for the years then ended, are not material.

Thrift Plan

Employees of the Bank may also participate in the defined contribution Thrift Plan for Employees of the
Federal Reserve System (“Thrift Plan”). The Bank’s Thrift Plan contributions totaled $4 million for each of
the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, and are reported as a component of “Salaries and other
benefits.” The Bank matches employee contributions based on a specified formula. For the years ended
December 31, 2005 and 2004, the Bank matched 80 percent on the first 6 percent of employee contribu-
tions for employees with less than five years of service and 100 percent on the first 6 percent of employee
contributions for employees with five or more years of service.

9. POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS AND
POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

Postretirement Benefits other than Pensions
In addition to the Bank’s retirement plans, employees who have met certain age and length of service
requirements are eligible for both medical benefits and life insurance coverage during retirement.

The Bank funds benefits payable under the medical and life insurance plans as due and, accordingly,
has no plan assets.
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Following is a reconciliation of beginning and ending balances of the benefit obligation (in millions):

2005 2004
Accumulated postretirement benefit obligation at January 1 $42.6 $49.7
Service cost-benefits earned during the period 0.9 0.8
Interest cost of accumulated benefit obligation 2.7 2.6
Actuarial loss (gain) 7.2 (3.5
Curtailment (gain) - (0.4)
Special termination loss - 0.4
Contributions by plan participants 1.2 0.8
Benefits paid (4.0) (3.3)
Plan amendments - 4.5)
Accumulated postretirement benefit obligation at December 31 $50.6 $42.6

At December 31, 2005 and 2004, the weighted-average discount rate assumptions used in developing the
postretirement benefit obligation were 5.5 percent and 5.75 percent, respectively.

Discount rates reflects yields available on high quality corporate bonds that would generate the cash flows
necessary to pay the plan’s benefits when due.

Following is a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balance of the plan assets, the unfunded
postretirement benefit obligation, and the accrued postretirement benefit costs (in millions):

2005 2004
Fair value of plan assets at January 1 S - S -
Actual return on plan assets - -
Contributions by the employer 2.8 2.5
Contributions by plan participants 1.2 0.8
Benefits paid (4.0) (3.3)
Fair value of plan assets at December 31 S - S -
Unfunded postretirement benefit obligation $50.6 $42.7
Unrecognized net curtailment gain - 1.7
Unrecognized prior service cost 3.8 4.7
Unrecognized net actuarial (loss) gain (3.2) 4.0
Accrued postretirement benefit costs $51.2 $53.1

Accrued postretirement benefit costs are reported as a component of “Accrued benefit costs.”

For measurement purposes, the assumed health care cost trend rates at December 31 are as follows:

2005 2004
Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year 9.00% 9.00%
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to decline
(the ultimate trend rate) 5.00% 4.75%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate 20M 20M



Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for health care
plans. A one percentage point change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following
effects for the year ended December 31, 2005 (in millions):

One Percentage One Percentage

Point Increase Point Decrease
Effect on aggregate of service and interest cost
components of net periodic postretirement benefit costs $0.5 $(0.4)
Effect on accumulated postretirement benefit obligation 5.7 (4.8)

The following is a summary of the components of net periodic postretirement benefit costs for the years
ended December 31 (in millions):

2005 2004

Service cost-benefits earned during the period $0.9 $0.9

Interest cost of accumulated benefit obligation 2.7 2.6
Amortization of prior service cost (1.0) (1.1
Recognized net actuarial (gain) - (0.2)

Total periodic expense $2.6 $2.2
Curtailment (gain) 1.7) “4.7)

Special termination loss - 0.4
Net periodic postretirement benefit costs (credit) $0.9 S(2.1)

Net postretirement benefit costs are actuarially determined using a January 1 measurement date.
At January 1, 2005 and 2004, the weighted-average discount rate assumptions used to determine net
periodic postretirement benefit costs were 5.75 percent and 6.25 percent, respectively.

Net periodic postretirement benefit costs are reported as a component of “Salaries and other benefits.”

A plan amendment that modified the credited service period eligibility requirements created curtailment
gains. The recognition of special termination losses is primarily the result of enhanced retirement benefits
provided to employees during the restructuring described in footnote 10. The curtailment gain associated
with restructuring programs announced in 2003 was recognized when employees left the Bank in 2004.
The curtailment gain associated with restructuring programs announced in 2004 that are described in
footnote 10 will be offset by unrecognized actuarial losses and prior service gains. As a result, an unrecog-
nized net curtailment gain was recorded in 2005 when the affected employees terminated employment.

The Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 established a prescription
drug benefit under Medicare (“Medicare Part D”) and a federal subsidy to sponsors of retiree health care
benefit plans that provide benefits that are at least actuarially equivalent to Medicare Part D. The benefits
provided by the Bank’s plan to certain participants are at least actuarially equivalent to the Medicare Part
D prescription drug benefit. The estimated effects of the subsidy, retroactive to January 1, 2004, are reflect-
ed in actuarial gain in the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation and net periodic postretirement
benefit costs.
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Following is a summary of expected benefit payments (in millions):

Without Subsidy With Subsidy
Expected benefit payments:

2006 $3.3 $3.0

2007 3.5 3.2

2008 3.6 33

2009 3.7 33

2010 3.8 33
2011-2015 19.5 16.9

Total $37.4 $33.0

Postemployment Benefits

The Bank offers benefits to former or inactive employees. Postemployment benefit costs are actuarially
determined using a December 31, 2005 measurement date and include the cost of medical and dental
insurance, survivor income, and disability benefits. The accrued postemployment benefit costs recog-
nized by the Bank at December 31, 2005 and 2004, were $6 million and $7 million, respectively. This cost
is included as a component of “Accrued benefit costs.” Net periodic postemployment benefit costs includ-
ed in 2005 and 2004 operating expenses were $27 thousand and $63 thousand, respectively and are
recorded as a component of “Salaries and other benefits.”

10. BUSINESS RESTRUCTURING CHARGES

In 2003, the Bank announced plans for restructuring to streamline operations and reduce costs, including
consolidation of check operations and staff reductions in various functions of the Bank. In 2004 and
2005, additional consolidation and restructuring initiatives were announced in the Check, Treasury
Direct, System Purchasing Services (SPS) and Fedlmage operations. These actions resulted in the follow-
ing business restructuring charges (in millions):

Total Accrued Accrued

Estimated Liability Total Total Liability

Costs  12/31/2004 Charges Paid 12/31/2005

Employee separation $3.4 $2.7 $(0.5) $0.5 $1.7

Adjustments due to unrecognized accrued liabilities were offset against total charges. Without these
offsets, total charges would have been $109 thousand in 2005.

Employee separation costs are primarily severance costs related to identified staff reductions of approxi-
mately 207, including 2 and 121 staff reductions related to restructuring announced in 2005 and 2004,
respectively. These costs are reported as a component of “Salaries and other benefits.”

Restructuring costs associated with the write-downs of certain Bank assets, including software,
buildings, leasehold improvements, furniture, and equipment are discussed in Note 6. Costs
associated with enhanced pension benefits for all Reserve Banks are recorded on the books of the FRBNY
as discussed in Note 8. Costs associated with enhanced postretirement benefits are disclosed in Note 9.

Future costs associated with the announced restructuring plans are estimated at $3.2 million These costs,
which accommodate the transfer of check operations from one office to another, primarily represent
leasehold improvements that will be amortized over six years. The Bank anticipates substantially
completing its announced plans in 2006.
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